# FILED

Dec 14, 2015 Court of Appeals Division III State of Washington NO. 33416-3-III

### IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON **DIVISION THREE**

# STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

STEVEN YOUNG,

Appellant.

### ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR ASOTIN COUNTY

The Honorable Scott Gallina, Judge

# AMENDED BRIEF OF APPELLANT

MARY T. SWIFT Attorney for Appellant

NIELSEN, BROMAN & KOCH, PLLC 1908 E Madison Street Seattle, WA 98122 (206) 623-2373

#

#### A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. Former RCW 9A.44.130(3)(a)(i) (2011) violates due process because is unconstitutionally vague as applied to appellant.

2. Former RCW 9A.44.130(3)(a)(i) (2011) is ambiguous and must be construed in appellant's favor.

3. The court erred in entering Conclusions of Law 1 and 2.

4. The information was constitutionally deficient because it failed to provide appellant adequate notice of the charge against him.

The court erred in calculating appellant's offender score.
 <u>Issues Pertaining to Assignments of Error</u>

1. Is former RCW 9A.44.130(3)(a)(i) (2011) unconstitutionally vague as applied to appellant because it fails to specify with sufficient definiteness that appellant must reregister as a sex offender at the same address after being released from incarceration for a community custody violation related to a subsequent sex offense and not the original sex offense that triggered the duty to register?

2. Where there are multiple reasonable interpretations of former RCW 9A.44.130(3)(a)(i) (2011), is it ambiguous, requiring it to be construed in appellant's favor under the rule of lenity?

3. The charging document alleged appellant "knowingly failed to comply with any of the requirements of RCW 9A.44.130." Did

-1-

this fail to provide appellant sufficient notice of the charges against him when the State sought a conviction on inconsistent alternative means of failing to register as a sex offender?

4. Appellant was convicted of escape from community custody. RCW 9.94A.525(14) specifies that only prior escape convictions be counted in his offender score. However, the general terms of RCW 9.94A.525(19) also require one point to be added to an offender score when the offender committed the crime while on community custody. Do these statutes conflict, requiring the specific statute, RCW 9.94A.525(14), to supersede the general statute, RCW 9.94A.525(19)?

5. When read together, are these statutes ambiguous as to whether RCW 9.94A.525(19) applies when an offender is sentenced for escape from community custody?

6. When read together, are these statutes ambiguous as to whether RCW 9.94A.525(19) applies when an offender has a current escape from community custody conviction and is sentenced for another current offense?

#### B. <u>STATEMENT OF THE CASE</u>

1. <u>Procedural History</u>

On May 4, 2015, the Asotin County prosecutor charged Steven Young by amended information with failure to register as a sex offender

-2-

(third or subsequent conviction) (Count 1), witness tampering (Count 2), and escape from community custody (Count 3). CP 19-21. On the failure to register charge, the State alleged that between July 8 and November 14, 2014, Young "knowingly failed to comply with any of the requirements of RCW 9A.44.130." CP 19. After a bench trial, the court found Young guilty of failing to register and escape from community custody.<sup>1</sup> CP 22-28. The court found insufficient evidence of witness tampering and dismissed the charge. CP 27-29.

Young was convicted of second degree child molestation on February 5, 2004, an offense that requires him to register as a sex offender. Ex. 1. He was sentenced to 20 months confinement and 36 to 48 months of community custody. Ex. 1. Young was subsequently convicted of failing to register as a sex offender on October 1, 2007 (Ex. 4), September 3, 2008 (Ex. 5), and October 29, 2012 (Ex. 6). On the 2012 conviction, Young was sentenced to 14 months confinement and 36 months community custody "or for a period of earned released awarded pursuant to RCW 9.94A.728(1) and (2), whichever is longer." Ex. 6 at 4.

#### 2. Substantive Evidence

On November 25, 2013, Young registered with the Asotin County Sheriff's Office his fixed address of 611 7th Street, Clarkston, Washington.

-3-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Young did not contest the escape charge. RP 227.

Ex. 2. Young rented the house from Marilyn Jones with his mother as a cosigner. RP 37-39, 46, 147. Jones testified Young was a good tenant and always paid his rent on time. RP 44.

At trial, the State argued there were three alternative ways Young failed to register as a sex offender between July and November 2014. RP 223-24; CP 25-26. First, the State asserted Young no longer physically resided at 611 7th Street in Clarkston, but had moved to Culdesac, Idaho, to live with his girlfriend, Sheila Hassett. Second, the State argued Young continued to reside at 611 7th Street, but was no longer living there lawfully because his sister had taken over the lease. Third, the State asserted Young continued to lawfully reside at 611 7th Street, but failed to reregister at that address when he was released from jail in August 2014, pursuant to <u>State v.</u> Watson, 160 Wn.2d 1, 154 P.3d 909 (2007). RP 223-25.

In July 2014, Young was on community custody for the 2012 failure to register conviction. RP 84-85. When he failed to report to the Department of Corrections (DOC) as part of his community custody, two community corrections officers (CCOs) went to his home on July 8. RP 74-75. One CCO testified they encountered several people at Young's residence who said Young no longer lived there. RP 95. Young's assigned

-4-

CCO, Amanda Renzelman, also testified the two other CCOs spoke with three to four people at Young's residence who said he had moved.<sup>2</sup> RP 75.

However, on July 23, Renzelman and CCO Michael Grimm went to 611 7th Street and found Young there. RP 76-77. Renzelman testified there were boxes of clothing in the laundry room, but the house otherwise appeared vacant because the furniture was gone. RP 76-77, 98. Young informed Renzelman he had been burglarized. RP 87. Young was arrested that day for violating the terms of his community custody. RP 98-99.

While Young was incarcerated, his mother and sister co-signed a new lease and his sister began renting the 611 7th Street house on August 2, 2014. RP 40-41. Jones never evicted Young or informed him he was evicted, but claimed he was not allowed to be on the property because it would be illegal subleasing. RP 40-46, 173-74.

Young was released on August 11, 2014 and reported to DOC within 24 hours.<sup>3</sup> RP 12, 68, 88. Renzelman was unavailable that day, so Young spoke with CCO Kevin Vogeler. RP 64-65. Vogeler testified Young said he was homeless, so Vogeler instructed him to report back to Renzelman within

 $<sup>^2</sup>$  Defense counsel inexplicably failed to object to this hearsay and hearsay-within-hearsay.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Witnesses offered conflicting testimony whether Young reported to DOC on August 11 or 12. RP 64-65, 79, 88. But they all appeared to agree it was within 24 hours of his release from custody. RP 68, 88.

48 hours. RP 64-65. Young did not report to Renzelman thereafter. RP 79-80, 189-91. A warrant issued for his arrest on September 2. RP 80.

Renzelman attempted to contact Young at 611 7th Street on September 3. RP 80. Renzelman testified she spoke with Young's sister, who "stated at that time that he was not living there. I asked her if she knew where he was; she stated, 'No.' And she further stated that she didn't have a phone number or way to contact him, as each time he called her it was from a different phone number."<sup>4</sup> RP 81; see also RP 13-14.

On November 14, 2014, Corporal Rod Taylor, from the Nez Perce County Sheriff's Department, was patrolling Culdesac, Idaho, around 2:00 a.m. RP 52. He made contact with a man walking down the street who identified himself as Young. RP 53. Taylor testified Young said he was staying at 110 Ponderosa Loop in Culdesac and was looking for his lost dog. RP 54. Taylor did not ask Young how long he had been staying at Ponderosa Loop, but testified, "I took it he was living there." RP 56, 61. Taylor discovered Young had an outstanding warrant in Washington, so he arrested him and took him to the Nez Perce County Jail. RP 54-55. Young was then transferred to Asotin County Jail.<sup>5</sup> RP 19.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Defense counsel again inexplicably failed to object to this hearsay and likely Confrontation Clause violation, as Young's sister did not testify at trial.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> CCO Grimm testified he contacted Young in jail and asked him what happened and what was going on. RP 99-100. Young stated he was in Culdesac, to which

Young called his mother from jail on November 19, 2014. RP 15. Regarding his sister, Young said, "I need her to have my back on this," RP 20-21, and "I need to get her fuckin' testimony – you know – all she has to tell them (inaudible) they came looking for me and I was fuckin' high, so she told them I wasn't there." RP 32. Young's mother asked if that would get his sister in trouble. RP 21. Young replied, "No. How's that get her in trouble?"<sup>6</sup> RP 21.

Both Young and Hassett testified at trial. Hassett explained she lived at 611 7th Street with Young until he was arrested in July. RP 133-35. Hassett then broke up with Young, moved out, and took most of the furniture and household items with her to 110 Ponderosa Loop in Culdesac. RP 134-35. Hassett verified they never received any eviction notices while they

<sup>6</sup> This telephone call was the basis for the witness tampering charge. RP 225-26. Defense counsel pointed out, though, the very simple explanation that Young just wanted his sister to testify truthfully for him. RP 228. The trial court found this was "a reasonable explanation, one that is sufficient enough to give me pause with respect to the witness tampering charge." RP 242

Grimm asked him why he was there, telling him "[DOC] demands that you stay in Washington when you're on probation unless you have special permission." RP 100. Grimm testified Young responded, "Well, living there, getting high." RP 100. The court never held a CrR 3.5 hearing to consider the admissibility of Young's statements, though they were ostensibly made in response to custodial interrogation. <u>See State v. Kidd</u>, 36 Wn. App. 503, 509, 674 P.2d 674 (1983) ("CrR 3.5 is a mandatory rule. Before introducing evidence of a statement of the defendant, the court must hold a hearing to determine if the statement was freely given."). But the court also did not rely on Young's custodial statements in making its ultimate findings and conclusions. <u>See CP 23-27; In re Detention of Strand</u>, 167 Wn.2d 180, 203, 217 P.3d 1159 (2009) ("[W]here a defendant ha[s] not received such a voluntariness hearing, the conviction which relied upon the statements must be reversed.")..

lived at 611 7th Street. RP 138. She testified Young returned to that address when he was released in August; "As far as I know he never moved out." RP 142. Hassett visited Young at the house in Clarkston after his release and he visited her in Culdesac a couple times. RP 142-45.

Young testified his home was burglarized in July and Hassett took everything else when she moved out, leaving his house empty. RP 183, 196. He explained he returned to 611 7th Street after being released from custody in August, and lived there with his sister. RP 177. He never received an eviction notice, so he had no reason to believe he was living there unlawfully. RP 197.

Young further testified that on November 14, he rode out to Culdesac with a friend. RP 180. After several hours in Culdesac, Young got tired of waiting for his friend, so he tried to contact Hassett, but she did not respond because she was working early the next morning. RP 180, 206. Young then asked another friend to pick up him up and take him home, so he was walking down the highway waiting for her. RP 180. Young knew there was a warrant out for his failure to report for community custody, but not for failing to register as a sex offender. RP 181.

Young's friend, Mike Phillips, corroborated that Young returned to the 611 7th Street house after his release in August and continued to live there until his arrest in November 2014. RP 119. Young's mother also

-8-

testified Young returned to that address after his release, where she visited him once or twice a month after August. RP 150-51.

#### 3. <u>Trial Court's Ruling</u>

The court addressed each of the State's three theories in its written findings and conclusions. CP 22-27. First, the court "decline[d] to decide whether the Defendant ceased residing at [611 7th Street, Clarkston, Washington] prior to his arrest on November 14, 2014." CP 25. Second, the court "decline[d] to decide whether the Defendant was lawfully allowed to reside at that address after August 1, 2014, and thereby utilize that address as a 'fixed residence' under the statute." CP 26. The court pointed to the conflicting testimony on both of these theories. CP 25-26.

On the third theory, however, the court concluded:

1. Regardless of whether the Defendant was or was not actually continuing to reside at or was lawfully allowed upon the premises of 611 Seventh Street, Clarkston after August 1, 2014, it is undisputed that on or about August 11, 2014, the Defendant was released from incarceration which was pursuant to his conviction in Asotin County Cause 12-1-00083-4 for Failure to Register as a Sex Offender (Third or Subsequent Conviction), a sex offense under RCW 9.94A.030(46). As such, he was required to register with the Asotin County Sheriff's Office upon release and certainly within seventy-two hours thereof. It is further undisputed that the Defendant did not register after his release on August 11, 2014.

2. The Defendant therefore failed to comply with the requirements of RCW 9A.44.130 when he failed to register with the Asotin County Sheriff's office after release from incarceration on August 11, 2014. The Defendant was aware of his obligation to register and had knowledge of the event (release) triggering his obligation to register, and further, the Defendant has been convicted of Failure to Register as A Sex Offender on three prior occasions. Finally, these acts occurred in Asotin County, Washington. The Defendant is therefore guilty beyond a reasonable doubt of Failure to Register as a Sex Offender (Third or Subsequent Conviction) in violation of RCW 9A.44.132(1)(b) as charged in Count 1 of the Second Amended Information.

CP 26.

The State calculated Young's offender score on the escape conviction as one, because he was on community custody on the date of that offense. CP 39. With an offender score of one, the standard range sentence is two to sixth months. CP 29, 39. The trial court imposed four months on this conviction. CP 31.

The State calculated Young's offender score on the failure to register conviction as eight. CP 38. Young received three points for having a prior felony sex offense and three more points for having three prior failure to register convictions. CP 38; RCW 9.94A.525(18). Young also received one point for the current escape conviction and one more point because he was on community custody when he failed to register. With an offender score of eight, the standard range sentence is 33 to 43 months. CP 29, 38. The trial court imposed 38 months on the failure to register conviction, to run concurrently with the four-month sentence on the escape conviction. CP 31.

At sentencing, Young asked for a lenient sentence because he was

unaware of the duty to reregister upon release from custody:

As I read the RCW and the duty to register forms I complied to it as I read it. I was unaware of <u>State v. Watson</u>, and, you know, nowhere in the duty to register or in the RCW does the word "re-register" appear. It only appears in <u>State v. Watson</u>. And I thought that by being at the address that I was registered at, I thought that I was in compliance.

RP 254. The court sentenced Young to 38 months confinement and 36 months of community custody. CP 31. Young timely appeals. CP 41.

### C. <u>ARGUMENT</u>

1. FORMER RCW 9A.44.130 (3)(a)(i) (2011) IS AMBIGUOUS AND UNCONSTITUTIONALLY VAGUE AS APPLIED TO YOUNG, REQUIRING REVERSAL OF HIS CONVICTION.

Former RCW 9A.44.130(3)(a)(i) (2011) specifies "[s]ex offenders who committed a sex offense" and who "are in custody, as a result of that offense...must register at the time of release from custody." The Washington Supreme Court has held this provision is not unconstitutionally vague in requiring sex offenders to reregister when they return to their original address after being released from custody based on a probation violation for their original sex offense that triggered the duty to register. <u>Watson</u>, 160 Wn.2d at 8, 11-12.

This is not what happened here. Young was no longer on supervision for the original 2004 sex offense that triggered his duty to register. Instead he was on supervision for a 2012 failure to register conviction. He was then found guilty of failing to reregister when he returned to the same address after being released from incarceration for a community custody violation based on the 2012 conviction. Former RCW 9A.44.130(3)(a)(i) (2011) is unconstitutionally vague and ambiguous as to whether it required Young to reregister under this circumstance. His conviction should be reversed and the charge dismissed.

#### a. <u>The statute is unconstitutionally vague as applied.</u>

The due process vagueness doctrine of the Fourteenth Amendment and article I, section 3 of the Washington Constitution require the State to provide citizens fair warning of proscribed conduct. <u>State v. Bahl</u>, 164 Wn.2d 739, 752, 193 P.3d 678 (2008). The doctrine also protects against arbitrary, ad hoc, or discriminatory enforcement. <u>State v. Williams</u>, 144 Wn.2d 197, 203, 26 P.3d 890 (2001). A statute is therefore unconstitutionally vague if it either (1) does not define the offense with sufficient definiteness such that ordinary people can understand what conduct is proscribed; or (2) does not provide ascertainable standards of guilt to protect against arbitrary enforcement. <u>Id.</u> The first is at issue here.

Vagueness does not mean mere uncertainty; "'[s]ome measure of vagueness is inherent in the use of language."" <u>Watson</u>, 160 Wn.2d at 7 (quoting <u>Haley v. Med. Disciplinary Bd.</u>, 117 Wn.2d 720, 740, 818 P.2d

-12-

1062 (1991)). Therefore, "a statute is not unconstitutionally vague merely because a person cannot predict with complete certainty the exact point at which his actions would be classified as prohibited conduct." <u>City of Seattle v. Eze</u>, 111 Wn.2d 22, 27, 759 P.2d 366 (1988). Instead, a statute fails to provide the required notice if it forbids conduct "in terms so vague that men of common intelligence must necessarily guess at its meaning and differ as to its application." <u>Watson</u>, 160 Wn.2d at 7 (quoting <u>Connally v. Gen</u>. <u>Constr. Co.</u>, 269 U.S. 385, 391, 46 S. Ct. 126, 70 L. Ed. 322 (1926)).

The constitutionality of a statute is an issue of law this Court reviews de novo. <u>Id.</u> at 5-6. Because the registration statute does not involve First Amendment rights, "the vagueness challenge is to be evaluated by examining the statute as applied under the particular facts of the case." <u>Id.</u> (quoting <u>State v. Coria</u>, 120 Wn.2d 156, 163, 839 P.2d 890 (1992)). A statute is presumed constitutional and the challenger bears the burden of proving vagueness beyond a reasonable doubt. <u>State v. Hunley</u>, 175 Wn.2d 901, 908, 287 P.3d 584 (2012).

Young was convicted of failing to register as a sex offender pursuant to former RCW 9A.44.130 (3)(a)(i) (2011), which states in relevant part:

> OFFENDERS IN CUSTODY. (A) <u>Sex offenders who</u> <u>committed a sex offense</u> on, before, or after February 28, 1990, <u>and who</u>, on or after July 28, 1991, <u>are in custody, as a</u> <u>result of that offense</u>, of the state department of corrections, the state department of social and health services, a local

division of youth services, or a local jail or juvenile detention facility, ... <u>must register at the time of release from custody</u> with an official designated by the agency that has jurisdiction over the offender.... <u>The offender must also register within</u> <u>three business days from the time of release</u> with the county sheriff for the county of the person's residence, or if the person is not a resident of Washington, the county of the person's school, or place of employment or vocation.

(Emphasis added.) This requires "that convicted sex offenders must register upon release from custody, if they were in custody 'as a result of' the sex offense that triggered the applicability of the statute." <u>Watson</u>, 160 Wn.2d at 8. The <u>Watson</u> court considered whether the statute was vague as to whether a sex offender must reregister after being released from custody for a probation violation on the original sex offense. Id.

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