FILED  
JANUARY 20, 2016  
Court of Appeals  
Division III  
State of Washington

No. 33416-3-III

IN THE COURT OF THE APPEALS  
OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

DIVISION III

---

THE STATE OF WASHINGTON, Respondent

v.

STEVEN K. YOUNG, Appellant.

---

---

**BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

---

CURT L. LIEDKIE  
Asotin County Deputy  
Prosecuting Attorney  
WSBA #30371

P. O. Box 220  
Asotin, Washington 99402  
(509) 243-2061

**

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

The Appellant attempts to avail himself of a subsequent decision of Division II of the Court of Appeals that called into question

the Supreme Court's broad ruling. In State v. Mason, 170 Wn.App. 375, 285 P.3d 154 (Div. II, 2012), the sufficiency of the Information was challenged and the Court therein questioned whether, under certain circumstances, the crime might have alternate means. *Id.* at 381 - 382. However, this discussion can be viewed as *dicta*, since ultimately, the Court declined to consider the issue as the defendant therein failed to adequately raise and brief the issue. *Id.* at 384. Therein, the Court asserted that the holding in Peterson is limited to violations involving change in residency status. *Id.* at 380 - 381. The Mason Court discussed several provisions of the statute, the violation of which would support conviction under RCW 9A.44.130. *Id.* at 381 - 382. However, it should be noted that, none the examples discussed in Mason, which that Court characterized as possible alternate means of violating the statute, involve the provision at issue herein, and none involve a change in residency. *See id.* However, in light of the Court's determination not to reach the issue and resolve the matter on other grounds, such discussion is clearly *obiter dicta*.

Statements in a case that do not relate to an issue before the court and are unnecessary to decide the case constitute obiter dictum, and need not be followed.

State v. Potter, 68 Wn.App. 134, 150, 842 P.2d 481 (Div. II, 1992)

(*citation omitted*).



In determining that the offender's residency status is not an essential element of the offense of Failure to Register as a Sex Offender, the Supreme Court stated:

The "elements of a crime" are commonly defined as "[t]he constituent parts of a crime—[usually] consisting of the actus reus, mens rea, and causation—that the prosecution must prove to sustain a conviction." State v. Fisher, 165 Wn.2d 727, 754, 202 P.3d 937 (2009) (quoting Black's Law Dictionary 559 (8th ed. 2004)). Although Peterson is correct that a registrant's residential status informs the deadline by which he must register, it is possible to prove that a registrant failed to register within any applicable deadline without having to specify the registrant's particular residential status. That is what happened here. Peterson registered outside of any deadline contained in the statute. It was therefore unnecessary to show his particular residential status in order to prove a violation of the statute.

State v. Peterson, 168 Wn.2d at 772. The Appellant contends that his violation (i.e. failure to register upon release) is distinguishable from the violation in Peterson. In Peterson, the offender vacated his residence and did not notify the sheriff in that jurisdiction. Peterson, at 766 - 767. The State had no information thereafter as to his residency status or location until his subsequent arrest. Id. at 767. On appeal, the offender argued that his residency status was a necessary element that the State had the burden to prove. Id. at 769 770. As stated above, this argument was soundly rejected by the Supreme Court. Id. at 772.

The Appellant claims that, because Peterson involved a change in residency, his case is distinguishable, as the event triggering the obligation to register in his case was his release from incarceration. This argument ignores a fundamental fact of incarceration: release therefrom is a change in his residency status which substantially impacts the ability of law enforcement to locate him. As recognized in Watson, *supra*, “[T]he ‘purpose behind sex offender registration is to assist law enforcement agencies’ protection efforts.” Watson, 160 Wn.2d at 9-10 (*citations omitted*). The Court went on to explain:

This purpose is served by requiring sex offenders to register their address when they are first released and requiring reregistration when they move. However, it is also served by requiring reregistration when they are released from jail after violating their probation on the sex offense. Reregistration at such a time informs law enforcement that a potentially dangerous offender is returning to a residence in their area, which enables law enforcement to take any precautions necessary to protect their community. This information does not lose its usefulness to law enforcement simply because, as in this case, the offender can still be found at the same address registered prior to incarceration. It still informs law enforcement of a change in the sex offender’s whereabouts—from jail or prison to the previously registered address—and notifies law enforcement of the presence of a potential danger.

Id. at 10. The Washington Supreme Court recognized that release from incarceration is not a technical event but a significant and substantial change in residential status, equal to that of moving from

one house to another. The Court used a hypothetical to demonstrate the significance of requiring registration upon release:

If a sex offender moved to a residence next door to the local jail and then moved back to his or her previous residence, the statute would clearly require reregistration upon each move. Although incarceration and release are certainly not the same as moving voluntarily, the treatment of this situation under the registration statute provides a useful comparison. Local law enforcement does not need to know that a sex offender is reincarcerated in order to protect the community, so the sex offender need not reregister upon entry into the jail or prison; the fact that the offender physically relocated to a jail, rather than a private residence, essentially relieves him or her of this obligation. However, just as local law enforcement needs to know when a sex offender moves to its community, it needs to know when a sex offender returns to the community. Consequently, the offender remains obligated to reregister upon return to the previously registered residence.

Watson, 160 Wn.2d at 10-11.

The Courts recognition of this crucial point applies *a fortiori* where the Appellant herein left incarceration and reported only once to DOC, advising the officer that he wasn't sure where he would be residing. He never stated he intended to return to the 611 Seventh Street address upon release. His claim at trial, and *sub silentio*, on appeal, that he continued to lawfully reside at 611 Seventh Street is dubious based upon his admission to CCO Vogeler that he would be homeless when released. It is further rendered specious as the Appellant could not be located at the residence thereafter, his sister's

statement to law enforcement who came looking for him,<sup>8</sup> and the landlord's testimony that he was told he could not be at the 611 Seventh Street residence. It is finally laid in the grave by his arrest in Culdesac, Idaho, months later. However, regardless of whether he continued to reside at 611 Seventh Street after his release on August 11, 2014, law enforcement had no way to know where he was staying, or even where he was claiming to stay, during his three month hiatus. RCW 9A.44.130 imposes a duty upon the Appellant to provide accurate and up to date information regarding his living arrangement. Just as in Peterson, his release from custody on August 11, 2014 was a change in residency status and he was obligated to update his residency information with the Asotin County Sheriff's Office. After three prior convictions, he was painfully aware of his obligation to do so. The Information filed in this matter adequately notified the Appellant of the necessary elements pursuant statute and case law.

The Appellant claims that the State charged inconsistent alternate means. See Brief of Appellant, at 25-26. Having established that the crime charged is not an "alternate means" and that the State charged the only means for which the statute provides, this argument

---

<sup>8</sup>The Appellant expresses concern regarding the failure of trial counsel to object to introduction of these statements of the sister, as well as the statements of the "movers," on July 8, 2015. Raising an issue in a footnote is insufficient to command appellate review. See St. Joseph Gen. Hosp. v. Dep't of Revenue, 158 Wn.App. 450, 472-473, 242 P.3d 897 (Div. II, 2010)(citing State v. Johnson, 69 Wn.App. 189, 194 n.4, 847 P.2d 960 (Div. I, 1993)).

necessarily fails. However, the Appellant's argument lacks basis in fact as well. In support thereof, the Appellant claims that the State pursued separate, and mutually exclusive alternate means. Specifically, he claims that the State argued at trial that he became homeless or moved to moved to Culdesac, Idaho, and did not return to 611 Seventh Street, that he returned to 611 Seventh Street unlawfully, and that he failed to register upon release on August 11, 2014. As noted in the fact section, the Appellant has mischaracterized the State's arguments and theory of prosecution.

It was unnecessary for the State to prove his residency status after release. Peterson, 168 Wn.2d at 774. All the State was required to prove was that any event had occurred which triggered his obligation to register. See id. at 773. The trigger, as argued by the State at trial, was that the Appellant ceased having a "fixed residence" at 611 Seventh Street. RCW 9A.44.130(3)(a)(vii) and (4) require him to register if he changes his fixed residence, or ceases having a fixed residence. RCW 9A.44.128 defines a "fixed residence" as a "building that a person lawfully and habitually uses as living quarters a majority of the week." Here, the State asserted that the Appellant's duty to register was triggered when he vacated the residence and supported this claim with testimony from DOC officers who attempted to contact him there and the landlord who testified that he had voluntarily vacated and the residence was being rented to another person. The

State offered further evidence to show that he was no longer lawfully allowed to reside at that residence. These facts are not mutually exclusive as it relates to the State's burden to demonstrate that the Appellant was obligated to register after some event. To hold otherwise would fly in the face of reason. As recognized in Peterson:

Reduced to its essentials, Peterson's argument is that an offender who successfully hides his whereabouts after moving cannot be convicted of failure to register despite clear evidence that he failed to register within any statutorily prescribed deadline.

Peterson, at 744. The operative fact to be proved by the State at trial was that the Appellant was no longer lawfully residing at the residence at 611 Seventh Street. That this fact might be proven through different evidence is of no consequence.

In the alternative and as more fully discussed above, the Appellant's duty to register was triggered by his release from custody on August 11, 2014. This fact is in addition to the other facts which may have triggered his obligations under the statute. The Appellant makes a conclusory assertion that these alternate theories are repugnant to one another. Even cursory discussion of the facts reveals this claim to be completely without merit. The Appellant could certainly have 1) left custody, triggering his obligation to register, and 2) ceased lawfully residing at 611 Seventh Street, also triggering his obligation to register.

Alternative means of committing a crime are not repugnant to each other unless the proof of one will disprove the other. State v. Allen, 127 Wn.App. 125, 132, 110 P.3d 849 (Div. I, 2005)(*quotes and citation omitted*). First, and not to unduly stress the point, the Appellant was not charged with a crime that contains alternate means. Further, under these facts, proof that the Appellant was released from custody does not disprove the proposition that he ceased lawfully residing at 611 Seventh Street. Both propositions can be true, and, although the Trial Court only conclusively found that the Appellant failed to register after release from custody, the State continues to assert that the Appellant also ceased lawfully residing at the residence. His reliance on State v. Bray, 52 Wn.App. 30, 756 P.2d 1332 (Div. I, 1988), is misplaced because RCW 9A.44.130 does not create an alternate means offense, nor did the State charge or proceed on repugnant theories.

To the extent the Appellant's assertions can be construed as a vagueness challenge to the Information, the Appellant's claim must likewise fail.

Washington courts distinguish between charging documents that are constitutionally deficient because of the State's failure to allege each essential element of the crime charged and charging documents that are factually vague as to some other significant matter. The State may correct a vague charging document with a bill of particulars. Mason failed to request a bill of particulars at trial, thus, he waived his vagueness challenge. Therefore, we hold that Mason waived his challenge on appeal to any vagueness in the charging

document. Moreover, Mason does not contend that the language used in the charging document prejudiced him. We reject Mason's challenges to the information.

State v. Mason, 170 Wn.App. at 385 (citing State v. Winings, 126 Wn.App. 75, 84, 107 P.3d 141 (2005), and State v. Leach, 113 Wn.2d 679, 686-87, 782 P.2d 552 (1989)). The Appellant also did not request a Bill of Particulars. Any such claim is therefore waived and should not be considered. See Id. See also RAP 2.5(a).

Because the crime defined in RCW 9A.44.132 is not an alternate means crime, the Information was not defective. The language used in the Second Amended Information was virtually identical to language used in Peterson, which was affirmed. Further, because the Appellant failed to seek a bill of particulars, he waived any claim regarding vagueness of the charging document.

4. THE COURT PROPERLY CALCULATED THE APPELLANT'S OFFENDER SCORE RELATING TO HIS CONVICTION FOR ESCAPE FROM COMMUNITY CUSTODY

As a last resort, the Appellant claims that the Court incorrectly calculated his offender score as to the charge in Count III of Escape from Community Custody. See Brief of Appellant, p. 27. To that end, the Appellant asserts that the Court incorrectly added one point to his offender score on that charge based upon his status as serving a period of community custody at the time of commission of the offense. The Appellant claims that since he must necessarily be on community



custody to commit the offense, the sentencing court cannot add a point pursuant to RCW 9.94A.525(19).

As a starting point, this Court should decline to accept review of this unpreserved issue. RAP 2.5(a) states the general rule for appellate disposition of issues not raised in the trial court: appellate courts will not entertain them. State v. Guzman Nunez, 160 Wn.App. 150, 157, 248 P.3d 103 (Div. III, 2011)(*citing State v. Scott*, 110 Wn.2d 682, 685, 757 P.2d 492 (1988)); *aff'd*, 174 Wn.2d 707, 285 P.3d 21 (2012)). Not only did the Appellant not object below, he was specifically asked if there was a dispute as to the offender score and counsel stated that there was not. RP 245. Later, during counsel's argument to the Court on sentencing, he specifically stated that there was no disagreement as to his standard range. RP 251 - 254. The Appellant acknowledges in a footnote that this claim, if granted, would only impact his sentence on the conviction for Escape from Community Custody. See Brief of Appellant, p. 30. The sentence of four months and would have no practical effect on his overall sentence, since it is being served concurrently, and as such, further discussion and consideration is merely an academic exercise with no practical consequences. See State v. Gentry, 125 Wn.2d 570, 616, 888 P.2d 1105 (1995)(*"Ordinarily, this court will not consider a question that is purely academic."*). While recognizing that a claim of sentencing error may be raised for the first time on appeal, under

these circumstances, the State would request this Court decline to do so. See State v. Ford, 137 Wn.2d 472, 477, 973 P.2d 452 (1999) (“*In the context of sentencing, established case law holds that illegal or erroneous sentences may be challenged for the first time on appeal.*”)(*emphasis added*).

The Appellant first claims that the statute is ambiguous. As discussed above, a statute is only ambiguous if it is susceptible to two or more **reasonable** interpretations; and not "merely because different interpretations are conceivable." State v. Tili, 139 Wn.2d at 115.65 (1999). Absent ambiguity, the plain meaning controls as an expression of legislative intent." State v. Jacobs, 154 Wn.2d at 600.

RCW 9.94A.525(7) provides the general rule for scoring prior felony convictions for nonviolent offenses. That statute provides:

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